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inancial Information

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Operating revenues $1,270,519 $1,214,628 $1,052,333 $863,417 $772,095

Net income 47,744 48,023 60,011 57,246 48,378

Earnings per share (diluted)* 0.74 0.76 0.94 0.90 0.76

Cash flow from operations 226,920 170,147 131,977 137,940 126,037

Cash dividends declared per share* .075 .075 .075 .070 .060

Return on average stockholders’ equity 8.5% 9.3% 12.8% 13.7% 13.1%

Operating ratio 93.8% 93.2% 90.3% 88.9% 89.9%

Book value per share* 9.27 8.55 7.86 6.98 6.20

Total assets 964,014 927,207 896,879 769,196 667,638

Total debt 50,000 105,000 145,000 100,000 60,000

Stockholders’ equity 590,049 536,084 494,772 440,588 395,118

F inancial H ighlights
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Vision Statement
A clear vision - to be recognized as the premier provider of truckload transportation services.
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Operating Revenues
(in Millions of Dollars)

Earnings Per Share (diluted)
(in Dollars)

Total Assets
(in Millions of Dollars)

F

* After giving retroactive effect for the March 2002, four-for-three stock split (all years presented).
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2001 in Review
2001 was a year of intense

challenges and significant
opportunities for Werner
Enterprises and the truckload
transportation industry.

During the past year, our
industry experienced one of the
most difficult operating periods
I have seen in my 45 years in
the business. The combined
effect of a recessionary econo-
my, a depressed used truck pric-
ing market, skyrocketing liabili-
ty insurance premiums, and very
restrictive equipment lending
made 2001 a challenging year.

However, Werner Enterprises was well prepared for
these tough times. We anticipated many of these issues
nearly two years ago. By slowing our fleet growth,
shrinking our controllable costs, intensifying our focus
on cash flow, and paying down debt, we minimized the
impact of industry factors on our financial results.  

For the year, our revenues rose 5% to $1.3 billion
while earnings decreased slightly to $.74 per share, or
$48 million.  Our cash flow from operations increased
33% to $227 million. Werner Enterprises produced more
profits in 2001 than any other public trucking company
(truckload or less-than-truckload).

We kept our trucks and drivers productive during
2001. We accomplished this by capitalizing on our diver-
sified base of customers and freight, continually devel-
oping new business, and replacing less profitable busi-
ness. We also maintained our superior on-time service
levels, and effectively used our proprietary technology.
Even with a much weaker economy, our revenue per
truck per week decreased only slightly and was 10%
higher than our largest competitors.

Werner Enterprises’ financial position is strong.  We
are essentially debt-free, as our invested cash exceeds our
only remaining debt.  Our stockholders’ equity has con-
tinued its steady growth and now exceeds $590 million.
The financial stability of Werner Enterprises has never
been more attractive to both customers and drivers.  

Truckload Industry
in Review
Truckload transportation remains

the lifeblood of the U.S. trans-
portation market.  Nearly 80% of
the $500 billion a year domestic
freight market moves by truck.
Shippers rely on truckload carri-
ers for economical and time-sen-
sitive service - service that is
unmatched by other modes of
transportation.  Most consumers
unknowingly depend on truck-
load carriers for numerous items
they use every day.  From break-
fast cereal to toothpaste to cloth-
ing to laundry detergent to car

tires to electronics, all likely were hauled by a truckload
carrier. 

Due to the harsh operating conditions, the number of
failed trucking companies has increased substantially
over the past two years. Industry sources estimate that
4,000 trucking companies (with fleets of four or more
trucks) failed in 2001, compared to an average of 1,650
trucking company failures during the prior 15 years. In
most recent history, trucking company failures accelerat-
ed in the two years following severe events, such as the
1990 fuel price spike and the 1995 truckload overcapac-
ity recession. These events are less significant than what
we experienced in the year 2001. Therefore, I would not
be surprised to see more trucking companies cease oper-
ations or downsize their fleets in 2002 and 2003.  

Truckload industry returns and margins have
declined to unacceptable levels.  Current returns are inad-
equate to justify the significant capital investment
required in this industry. Many truckload carriers, includ-
ing Werner Enterprises, slowed their growth or reduced
the size of their fleet this past year to weather the storm.
At the same time truck capacity is becoming constrained
in the market, barriers to entry are increasing. Fleet size,
shipper technology requirements, access to financing,
and access to trucking insurance have become road-
blocks for companies looking to enter or grow in the
truckload market.

Over the past 15 years, truckload rates increased 20%
while inflation increased 60%. Cost subsidies of the past,
such as guaranteed truck buybacks, low liability insur-
ance rates, and easy credit terms, kept rates low. These
subsidies are gone and truckload rates must increase.

As trucking company failures increase or as the econ-
omy improves, I expect truck capacity to tighten. This
will create more opportunities for high-service, financial-
ly stable carriers like Werner Enterprises. 

The Road Ahead 
Werner Enterprises is uniquely positioned to take

advantage of the opportunities ahead.  
We have continued to reinvest in equipment and tech-

nology during these difficult times to provide the superi-
or on-time service customers routinely expect from
Werner Enterprises. While many carriers are extending
the age of their truck fleet to four and five years, we are
continuing to replace our fleet at three years. I believe
that the benefits of better service, lower maintenance,
higher driver acceptance, and better resale value will val-
idate our three-year replacement cycle.

Our strong financial position should also work to our
advantage. As shippers become more concerned about
the financial viability of their carrier partners, they have
no such concerns with Werner Enterprises. As more driv-
ers are affected by trucking company failures, Werner
Enterprises becomes a preferred truckload employer.  

Werner Enterprises is well positioned to manage the
industry issues I mentioned earlier in this letter. Our mar-
keting department has been keeping our customers fully
informed of truckload industry conditions. We have been
aggressively adding and replacing freight with new and
existing customers, all the while remaining diversified.
To maximize our equipment resale values, we are contin-
uing to expand our existing truck equipment retail sales
network, which is one of the largest in the United States.
As we have for more than 10 years, we continue to man-
age most of our liability, cargo, and property insurance
claims with experienced claim professionals.  This high-
ly effective self-insurance program minimizes the impact
of rising insurance premiums for our Company.                

We remain focused on profitable growth. Werner
Enterprises will stay disciplined and expand the growth
of our fleet when we see improving operating margins.
We will look for signs that truckload capacity is leaving
the market or that the economy is improving.  

As the Company’s largest shareholder, I am commit-
ted to continuing to improve returns for all shareholders.
Thank you for your investment and support of Werner
Enterprises.  

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
February 27, 2002        

Letter to Stockholders
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inancial Information

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
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F inancial H ighlights
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Vision Statement
A clear vision - to be recognized as the premier provider of truckload transportation services.
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* After giving retroactive effect for the March 2002, four-for-three stock split (all years presented).
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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the year ended December 31, 2001

Commission Ñle number 0-14690

Werner Enterprises, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as speciÑed in its charter)

Nebraska 47-0648386
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. employer
incorporation or organization) identiÑcation no.)

14507 Frontier Road 68145-0308 (402) 895-6640
(Zip code) (Registrant's telephone number)Post OÇce Box 45308

Omaha, Nebraska
(Address of principal executive oÇces)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
Common Stock, $.01 par value

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has Ñled all reports required to be Ñled by Section 13
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period
that the registrant was required to Ñle such reports), and (2) has been subject to such Ñling requirements for
the past 90 days. Yes ¥ No n

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent Ñlers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of the registrant's knowledge, in deÑnitive proxy or
information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to the
Form 10-K. n

The aggregate market value of the registrant's $.01 par value common stock held by nonaÇliates of the
registrant as of February 28, 2002, was approximately $688 million (based upon $17.76 per share closing price
on that date, as reported by Nasdaq, adjusted for the March 14, 2002 stock split). (Aggregate market value
estimated solely for the purposes of this report. This shall not be construed as an admission for purposes of
determining aÇliate status.)

As of February 28, 2002, 63,857,364 shares of the registrant's common stock were outstanding (adjusted
for the March 14, 2002 stock split).

Portions of the Proxy Statement of Registrant for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held
May 14, 2002, are incorporated in Part III of this report.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

General

Werner Enterprises, Inc. (""Werner'' or the ""Company'') is a transportation company engaged primarily
in hauling truckload shipments of general commodities in both interstate and intrastate commerce. Werner is
one of the Ñve largest truckload carriers in the United States and maintains its headquarters in Omaha,
Nebraska, near the geographic center of its service area. Werner was founded in 1956 by Chairman and Chief
Executive OÇcer, Clarence L. Werner, who started the business with one truck at the age of 19. Werner
completed its initial public oÅering in April 1986 with a Öeet of 630 trucks. Werner ended 2001 with a Öeet of
7,775 trucks.

The Company operates throughout the 48 contiguous states pursuant to operating authority, both
common and contract, granted by the United States Department of Transportation and pursuant to intrastate
authority granted by various states. The Company also has authority to operate in the ten provinces of Canada
and provides through trailer service in and out of Mexico. The principal types of freight transported by the
Company include consumer products, retail store merchandise, food products, paper products, beverages,
industrial products, and building materials. The Company's emphasis is to transport consumer non-durable
products that ship more consistently throughout the year.

Marketing and Operations

Werner's business philosophy is to provide superior on-time service to its customers at a low cost. To
accomplish this, Werner operates premium, modern tractors and trailers. This equipment has a lower
frequency of breakdowns and helps attract and retain qualiÑed drivers. Werner has continually invested in
technology to improve service to customers and improve retention of drivers. Werner focuses on shippers that
value the broad geographic coverage, equipment capacity, technology, customized services, and Öexibility
available from a large, Ñnancially stable carrier. These shippers are generally less sensitive to rate levels,
preferring to have their freight handled by a few core carriers with whom they can establish service-based,
long-term relationships.

Werner operates in the truckload segment of the trucking industry. Within the truckload segment,
Werner provides specialized services to customers based on their trailer needs (van, Öatbed, temperature-
controlled), geographic area (medium to long haul throughout the 48 contiguous states, regional), or
conversion of their private Öeet to Werner (dedicated).

Werner has a diversiÑed freight base and is not dependent on a small group of customers or a speciÑc
industry for a majority of its freight. During 2001, the Company's largest 5, 10, and 25 customers comprised
24%, 32%, and 46% of the Company's revenues, respectively. No one customer accounted for more than 9% of
the Company's revenues in 2001.

Virtually all of Werner's company and owner-operator tractors are equipped with satellite communica-
tions devices manufactured by Qualcomm that enable the Company and drivers to conduct two-way
communication using standardized and freeform messages. This satellite technology, installed in all trucks
beginning in 1992, also enables the Company to plan and monitor the progress of shipments. The Company
obtains speciÑc data on the location of all trucks in the Öeet at least every hour of every day. Using the real-
time data obtained from the satellite devices, Werner has developed advanced application systems to improve
customer service and driver service. Examples of such application systems include (1) automated engine
diagnostics to continually monitor mechanical fault tolerances, (2) software which preplans shipments that
can be swapped by drivers enroute to meet driver home time needs, without compromising on-time delivery
requirements, (3) automated ""possible late load'' tracking which informs the operations department of
shipments that may be operating behind schedule, thereby allowing the Company to take preventive measures
to avoid a late delivery, and (4) the Company's proprietary Paperless Log System to preplan the assignment of
shipments to drivers based on real-time available driving hours and to automatically keep track of truck
movement and drivers' hours of service. In June 1998, Werner Enterprises became the Ñrst, and only, trucking
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company in the United States to receive authorization from the Federal Highway Administration, under a
continuing pilot program, to use a paperless log system in place of the paper logbooks traditionally used by
truck drivers to track their daily work activities.

The Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA) issued a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking
(FMCSA-98-2350) on May 2, 2000, that proposed to make numerous changes to the regulations which
govern drivers' hours of service. The comment period for Ñling comments to the proposed rules was initially
scheduled to be due July 31, 2000, but the deadline was extended twice. Werner Enterprises and hundreds of
other carriers and industry groups submitted comment letters to the FMCSA in the proceeding by the Ñnal
deadline of December 15, 2000. In late 2000, Congress instructed the FMCSA to revise the proposed
regulations. Although the FMCSA announced plans in February 2002 to develop a new set of proposed rules
by separating the controversial sections of the original proposal from those more favored, the agency has not
determined a deadline for issuing the new proposed regulations.

On June 30, 2000, the Company, along with four other large transportation companies, contributed their
logistics business units into a commonly owned, Internet-based transportation logistics company, Transplace.
The Company invested $5 million in cash and has an approximate 15% equity stake in Transplace. The
Company transferred logistics business representing about 4% of total revenues for the six months ended
June 30, 2000, to Transplace. The Company is recording its approximate 15% investment in Transplace using
the equity method of accounting and is accruing its percentage share of Transplace's earnings as other non-
operating income. As of December 31, 2001, the Company's net investment in Transplace is $3.7 million. The
Company is not responsible for the debt of Transplace.

Seasonality

In the trucking industry, revenues generally show a seasonal pattern as some customers reduce shipments
during and after the winter holiday season. The Company's operating expenses have historically been higher in
the winter months due primarily to decreased fuel eÇciency, increased maintenance costs of revenue
equipment in colder weather, and increased insurance and claims costs due to adverse winter weather
conditions. The Company attempts to minimize the impact of seasonality through its marketing program that
seeks additional freight from certain customers during traditionally slower shipping periods. Revenue can also
be aÅected by bad weather and holidays, since revenue is directly related to available working days of shippers.

Employees and Owner-Operator Drivers

As of December 31, 2001, the Company employed 9,157 drivers, 579 mechanics and maintenance
personnel, 1,315 oÇce personnel for the trucking operation, and 166 personnel for the non-trucking operations.
The Company also had 1,135 contracts with independent contractors (owner-operators) for services that
provide both a tractor and a qualiÑed driver or drivers. None of the Company's employees is represented by a
collective bargaining unit, and the Company considers relations with its employees to be good.

The Company recognizes that its professional driver workforce is one of its most valuable assets. Most of
Werner's drivers are compensated based upon miles driven. For Company drivers, the rate per mile increases
with the drivers' length of service. Additional compensation may be earned through a fuel eÇciency bonus, a
mileage bonus, an annual achievement bonus, and for extra work associated with their job (loading and
unloading, extra stops, and shorter mileage trips, for example).

At times, there are shortages of drivers in the trucking industry. In prior years, the number of qualiÑed
drivers in the industry was reduced because of the elimination of federal funding for driving schools, changes
in the demographic composition of the workforce, individual drivers' desire to be home more often, and a
declining unemployment rate in the U.S. over the past several years. Although the market for attracting
drivers improved during 2001 due to the higher domestic unemployment rate and other factors, the Company
anticipates that the competition for qualiÑed drivers will continue to be high and cannot predict whether it will
experience shortages in the future.
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The Company also recognizes that carefully selected owner-operators complement its company-
employed drivers. Owner-operators are independent contractors that supply their own tractor and driver and
are responsible for their operating expenses. Because owner-operators provide their own tractors, less Ñnancial
capital is required from the Company for growth. Also, owner-operators provide the Company with another
source of drivers to support its growth. The Company intends to continue its emphasis on recruiting owner-
operators, as well as company drivers. However, it has been more diÇcult for the Company and the industry to
recruit and retain owner-operators over the past year due to higher fuel prices for most of the year and a weak
used truck pricing market.

Revenue Equipment

As of December 31, 2001, Werner operated 6,640 company tractors and had contracts for 1,135 tractors
owned by owner-operators. Approximately 75% of the company tractors are manufactured by Freightliner, a
subsidiary of DaimlerChrysler. Most of the remaining company tractors are manufactured by Peterbilt, a
division of PACCAR, Inc. This standardization of the company tractor Öeet decreases downtime by
simplifying maintenance. The Company adheres to a comprehensive maintenance program for both tractors
and trailers. Due to continuous upgrading of the company tractor Öeet, the average age was 1.5 years at
December 31, 2001. The Company generally adheres to a 3-year replacement cycle for most of its tractors.
Owner-operator tractors are inspected prior to acceptance by the Company for compliance with operational
and safety requirements of the Company and the Department of Transportation. These tractors are then
periodically inspected, similar to company tractors, to monitor continued compliance.

The Company operated 19,775 trailers at December 31, 2001: 17,970 dry vans; 805 Öatbeds; 935 temper-
ature-controlled; and 65 other specialized trailers. Most of the Company's trailers are manufactured by
Wabash National Corporation. As of December 31, 2001, 97% of the Company's Öeet of dry van trailers
consisted of 53-foot trailers, and 99% consisted of aluminum plate or composite (duraplate) trailers. Other
trailer lengths such as 48-foot and 57-foot are also provided by the Company to meet the specialized needs of
customers.

The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), in a 1998 consent decree with a group of heavy-duty
diesel engine makers, mandated new standards for production of low-emission engines by October 1, 2002.
The new standards call for a 37.5% reduction in the amount of nitrogen oxides emitted by the engines, from
4.0 grams per brake-horsepower hour to 2.5 grams. The EPA has proposed a schedule of Ñnes to be levied on
the manufacturers of engines that fail to comply with the standards, ranging from $1,000 to $15,000 per unit.
The major engine-makers are beginning initial production of engines to meet the new standards in early 2002.
Little is known about the new engines' performance, fuel economy and price, or when engines will be available
for testing. However, it is expected that fuel economy may be worse than that of the current engines. It is also
anticipated that engine prices may increase to enable engine manufacturers to recoup the cost of complying
with the new emissions standards. At this time, the amount of such price increases, if they occur, are not
known, nor are the possible increases to fuel expense, supplies and maintenance expense, and depreciation
expense with the new engines. Several large carriers have publicly stated that they are considering modifying
their normal truck-replacement cycles to allow more time for testing the new engines. The Company will
closely monitor the development of these new engines to determine the Company's course of action.

Fuel

The Company purchases approximately 90% of its fuel through a network of approximately 300 fuel stops
throughout the United States. The Company has negotiated discounted pricing based on certain volume
commitments with these fuel stops. Bulk fueling facilities are maintained at the Company's terminals.

Shortages of fuel, increases in fuel prices, or rationing of petroleum products can have a materially
adverse eÅect on the operations and proÑtability of the Company. Beginning in the second half of 1999 and
continuing throughout 2000, the Company experienced signiÑcant increases in the cost of diesel fuel. Diesel
fuel prices began to decrease in the fourth quarter of 2001. The Company's customer fuel surcharge
reimbursement programs have historically enabled the Company to recover most of the higher fuel prices from
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its customers compared to normalized average fuel prices. These fuel surcharges, which automatically adjust
from week to week depending on the cost of fuel, enable the Company to rapidly recoup the higher cost of fuel
when prices increase. Conversely, when fuel prices decrease, fuel surcharges decrease. The Company cannot
predict whether fuel prices will continue to decrease or will increase in the future or the extent to which fuel
surcharges will be collected to oÅset such increases. As of December 31, 2001, the Company had no derivative
Ñnancial instruments to reduce its exposure to fuel price Öuctuations.

The Company maintains aboveground and underground fuel storage tanks at most of its terminals.
Leakage or damage to these facilities could expose the Company to environmental clean-up costs. The tanks
are routinely inspected to help prevent and detect such problems.

Regulation

The Company is a motor carrier regulated by the United States Department of Transportation (DOT).
The DOT generally governs matters such as safety requirements, registration to engage in motor carrier
operations, accounting systems, certain mergers, consolidations, acquisitions, and periodic Ñnancial reporting.
The Company currently has a satisfactory DOT safety rating, which is the highest available rating. A
conditional or unsatisfactory DOT safety rating could have an adverse eÅect on the Company, as some of the
Company's contracts with customers require a satisfactory rating. Such matters as weight and dimensions of
equipment are also subject to federal, state, and international regulations.

The Company has unlimited authority to carry general commodities in interstate commerce throughout
the 48 contiguous states. The Company currently has authority to carry freight on an intrastate basis in
44 states. The Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act of 1994 (the FAAA Act) amended
sections of the Interstate Commerce Act to prevent states from regulating rates, routes, or service of motor
carriers after January 1, 1995. The FAAA Act did not address state oversight of motor carrier safety and
Ñnancial responsibility, or state taxation of transportation. If a carrier wishes to operate in a state where it did
not previously have intrastate authority, it must, in most cases, still apply for authority.

The Company's operations are subject to various federal, state, and local environmental laws and
regulations, implemented principally by the EPA and similar state regulatory agencies, governing the
management of hazardous wastes, other discharge of pollutants into the air and surface and underground
waters, and the disposal of certain substances. The Company believes that its operations are in material
compliance with current laws and regulations.

President Bush is considering implementing provisions of the North American Free Trade Agreement
(NAFTA), which could result in increased competition between U.S. and Mexican carriers for truckload
services between these two countries.

Competition

The trucking industry is highly competitive and includes thousands of trucking companies. It is estimated
that the annual revenue of domestic trucking amounts to $400 billion per year. The Company has a small but
growing share (estimated at approximately 1%) of the markets targeted by the Company. The Company
competes primarily with other truckload carriers. Railroads, less-than-truckload carriers, and private carriers
also provide competition, but to a lesser degree.

Competition for the freight transported by the Company is based primarily on service and eÇciency and,
to some degree, on freight rates alone. Few other truckload carriers have greater Ñnancial resources, own more
equipment, or carry a larger volume of freight than the Company. The Company is one of the Ñve largest
carriers in the truckload transportation industry.

Forward-Looking Information

The forward-looking statements in this report, which reÖect management's best judgment based on
factors currently known, involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results could diÅer materially from those
anticipated in the forward-looking statements included herein as a result of a number of factors, including, but
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not limited to, those discussed in Item 7, ""Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations
and Financial Condition.''

Item 2. Properties

Werner's headquarters is located along Interstate 80 just west of Omaha, Nebraska, on approximately
197 acres, 147 of which are held for future expansion. The Company's 286,000 square-foot headquarters oÇce
building includes a 5,000 square-foot computer center, drivers' lounge areas, a drivers' orientation section, a
cafeteria, and a Company store. The Omaha headquarters also consists of 131,000 square feet of maintenance
and repair facilities containing a central parts warehouse, frame straightening and alignment machine, truck
and trailer wash areas, equipment safety lanes, body shops for tractors and trailers, and a paint booth including
a 77,500 square-foot trailer maintenance facility constructed in 1999. Portions of the former trailer
maintenance building were converted into a driver training facility in 2001. The Company owns all of its
corporate headquarters facilities. The Company's headquarters facilities have suitable space available to
accommodate planned expansion needs for the next 3 to 5 years.

The Company and its subsidiaries own a 22,000 square-foot terminal in SpringÑeld, Ohio, a 33,000
square-foot facility near Denver, an 18,000 square-foot facility near Los Angeles, a 31,000 square-foot
terminal near Atlanta, a 48,000 square-foot terminal in Dallas (including 21,000 square feet of trailer repair,
parts, and body shop facilities added in 2001), and a 32,000 square-foot terminal in Phoenix. The Company
leases terminal facilities in Allentown, Pennsylvania and in Indianapolis, Indiana. All eight locations include
oÇce and maintenance space. The Company opened a new 16,000 square-foot international terminal in
Laredo, Texas in May of 2001.

The Company also owns a 73,000 square-foot disaster recovery and warehouse facility in another area of
Omaha and has 50% ownership in a 125,000 square-foot warehouse located near the Company's headquarters.
Additionally, the Company leases several small sales oÇces and trailer parking yards in various locations
throughout the country.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company is a party to routine litigation incidental to its business, primarily involving claims for
personal injury and property damage incurred in the transportation of freight. The Company has maintained a
self-insurance program with a qualiÑed department of Risk Management professionals since 1988. These
employees manage the Company's property damage, cargo, liability, and workers' compensation claims. The
Company has assumed liability for claims up to $500,000, plus administrative expenses, for each occurrence
involving personal injury or property damage. The Company is also responsible for varying annual aggregate
amounts of liability for claims above $500,000 and below $4,000,000. For the policy year ending August 1,
2002, these annual aggregate amounts total $4,500,000. The Company maintains insurance, which covers
liability in excess of this amount to coverage levels that management considers adequate. The Company
believes that adverse results in one or more of these claims would not have a material adverse eÅect on its
results of operations or Ñnancial position. See also Note (1) ""Insurance and Claims Accruals'' and Note (7)
""Commitments and Contingencies'' in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8 of this
Form 10-K.
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

During the fourth quarter of 2001, no matters were submitted to a vote of security holders.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Price Range of Common Stock

The Company's common stock trades on the Nasdaq National Market tier of The Nasdaq Stock Market
under the symbol WERN. The following table sets forth for the quarters indicated the high and low sale prices
per share of the Company's common stock in the Nasdaq National Market and the Company's dividends
declared per common share from January 1, 2000, through December 31, 2001, after giving retroactive eÅect
for the March 2002 stock split discussed below.

Dividends
Declared Per

High Low Common Share

2001

Quarter ended:

March 31ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $14.91 $11.34 $.019

June 30 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18.87 11.67 .019

September 30 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17.93 11.94 .019

December 31ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20.48 12.07 .019

2000

Quarter ended:

March 31ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $13.22 $ 9.23 $.019

June 30 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14.34 8.11 .019

September 30 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11.11 8.58 .019

December 31ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13.31 7.55 .019

As of February 27, 2002, the Company's common stock was held by 232 stockholders of record and
approximately 5,000 stockholders through nominee or street name accounts with brokers.

Dividend Policy

The Company has been paying cash dividends on its common stock following each of its quarters since
the Ñscal quarter ended May 31, 1987. The Company does not currently intend to discontinue payment of
dividends on a quarterly basis and does not currently anticipate any restrictions on its future ability to pay such
dividends. However, no assurance can be given that dividends will be paid in the future since they are
dependent on earnings, the Ñnancial condition of the Company, and other factors.

Common Stock Split

On February 11, 2002, the Company announced that its Board of Directors declared a four-for-three split
of the Company's common stock eÅected in the form of a 331/3 percent stock dividend. The stock dividend was
payable on March 14, 2002, to stockholders of record at the close of business on February 25, 2002. No
fractional shares of common stock were issued in connection with the stock split. Stockholders entitled to
fractional shares received a proportional cash payment based on the closing price of a share of common stock
on February 25, 2002.

All share and per-share information included in this Form 10-K, including in the accompanying
consolidated Ñnancial statements, for all periods presented have been adjusted to retroactively reÖect the stock
split.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected Ñnancial data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated Ñnancial
statements and notes under Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Operating revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,270,519 $1,214,628 $1,052,333 $863,417 $772,095

Net incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 47,744 48,023 60,011 57,246 48,378

Earnings per share (diluted)* ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.74 0.76 0.94 0.90 0.76

Cash Öow from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 226,920 170,147 131,977 137,940 126,037

Cash dividends declared per share*ÏÏÏÏÏ .075 .075 .075 .070 .060

Return on average stockholders' equity ÏÏ 8.5% 9.3% 12.8% 13.7% 13.1%

Operating ratio ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 93.8% 93.2% 90.3% 88.9% 89.9%

Book value per share* ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9.27 8.55 7.86 6.98 6.20

Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 964,014 927,207 896,879 769,196 667,638

Long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20,000 105,000 120,000 100,000 60,000

Total debt (current and long-term)ÏÏÏÏÏ 50,000 105,000 145,000 100,000 60,000

Stockholders' equityÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 590,049 536,084 494,772 440,588 395,118

* After giving retroactive eÅect for the March 2002, four-for-three stock split (all years presented).

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

Critical Accounting Policies

The Company's success depends on its ability to eÇciently manage its resources in the delivery of
truckload transportation services to its customers. Resource requirements vary with customer demand, which
may be subject to seasonal or general economic conditions. The Company's ability to adapt to changes in
customer transportation requirements is a key element in eÇciently deploying resources and in making capital
investments in trucks and trailers. Although the Company's business volume is not highly concentrated, the
Company may also be aÅected by the Ñnancial failure of its customers or a loss of a customer's business from
time-to-time.

The Company's greatest resource requirements include qualiÑed drivers, trucks, trailers, and related costs
of operating its equipment (such as fuel, driver pay, insurance, and supplies and maintenance). The Company
has historically been successful mitigating its risk to increases in fuel prices by recovering additional fuel
surcharges from its customers. The Company's Ñnancial results are also aÅected by availability of qualiÑed
drivers and the market for new and used trucks. Because the Company is self-insured for cargo, personal
injury, and property damage claims on its trucks and for workers' compensation beneÑts for its drivers
(supplemented by premium-based coverage above certain dollar levels), Ñnancial results may also be aÅected
by driver safety, medical costs, the weather, the legal and regulatory environment, and the costs of insurance
coverage to protect against catastrophic losses.

The most signiÑcant accounting policies and estimates that aÅect our Ñnancial statements include the
following:

‚ Selections of estimated useful lives and salvage values for purposes of depreciating tractors and trailers.
Depreciable lives of tractors and trailers range from 5 to 10 years. Estimates of salvage value at the
expected date of trade-in or sale are based on the expected market values of equipment at the time of
disposal.

‚ Estimates of accrued liabilities for insurance and claims for liability and physical damage losses and
workers' compensation. The insurance and claims accruals (current and long-term) are recorded at the
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estimated ultimate payment amounts and are based upon individual case estimates and estimates of
incurred-but-not-reported losses based upon past experience.

Management periodically re-evaluates these estimates as events and circumstances change. Together
with the eÅects of the matters discussed above, these factors may signiÑcantly impact the Company's results
of operations from period-to-period.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the percentage relationship of income and expense items to operating
revenues for the years indicated.

2001 2000 1999

Operating revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Operating expenses

Salaries, wages and beneÑtsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 36.0 35.4 36.4

Fuel ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10.3 11.3 7.5

Supplies and maintenance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9.3 8.5 8.3

Taxes and licensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7.4 7.3 7.8

Insurance and claims ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.3 2.8 3.0

DepreciationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9.2 9.0 9.5

Rent and purchased transportation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16.9 17.9 17.6

Communications and utilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.1 1.2 1.3

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.3 (0.2) (1.1)

Total operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 93.8 93.2 90.3

Operating income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.2 6.8 9.7

Net interest expense and other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.2 0.4 0.5

Income before income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6.0 6.4 9.2

Income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.2 2.4 3.5

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.8% 4.0% 5.7%
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The following table sets forth certain industry data regarding the freight revenues and operations of the
Company.

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Operating ratio ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 93.8% 93.2% 90.3% 88.9% 89.9%

Average revenues per tractor per week(1)ÏÏÏÏ $ 2,874 $ 2,889 $ 2,813 $ 2,783 $ 2,755

Average annual miles per tractor ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 123,660 125,568 125,856 126,492 126,598

Average miles per trip ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 744 746 734 760 799

Average revenues per total mile(1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1.208 $ 1.197 $ 1.162 $ 1.144 $ 1.132

Average revenues per loaded mile(1)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1.342 $ 1.328 $ 1.287 $ 1.265 $ 1.251

Non-trucking revenues (in thousands)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 74,001 $ 65,977 $ 60,379 $ 41,821 $ 43,955

Average tractors in serviceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,698 7,303 6,769 5,662 5,051

Total tractors (at year end)

Company ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,640 6,300 5,895 5,220 4,490

Owner-operator ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,135 1,175 1,230 930 860

Total tractors ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,775 7,475 7,125 6,150 5,350

Total trailers (at year end) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19,775 19,770 18,900 16,350 14,700

(1) Net of fuel surcharge revenues.

2001 Compared to 2000

Operating revenues increased 4.6% over 2000, due primarily to a 5.4% increase in the average number of
tractors in service. Revenue per total mile, excluding fuel surcharges, increased 0.9% primarily due to
customer rate increases, and revenue per total mile, including fuel surcharges, increased 0.3% compared to
2000. Fuel surcharges, which represent collections from customers for the higher cost of fuel, decreased from
$51.4 million in 2000 to $46.2 million in 2001 due to lower average fuel prices (see fuel explanation below).
Excluding fuel surcharge revenues, trucking revenues increased 4.8% over 2000. Revenue from non-trucking
transportation services increased $8.0 million compared to 2000.

Freight demand during 2001 was soft due to a weaker U.S. economy as compared to 2000. However, the
Company developed its freight base and utilized its proprietary technology so that it experienced only a 1.5%
decrease in its average annual miles per tractor. The Company's empty mile percentage increased slightly, by
one-tenth of one percentage point (from 9.9% to 10.0%).

The Company's operating ratio (operating expenses expressed as a percentage of operating revenues)
increased from 93.2% in 2000 to 93.8% in 2001. The decrease in owner-operator miles as a percentage of total
miles (16.6% in 2001 compared to 18.6% in 2000), contributed to a shift in costs from the rent and purchased
transportation expense category as described on the following pages. Owner-operators are independent
contractors who supply their own tractor and driver, and are responsible for their operating expenses including
fuel, supplies and maintenance, and fuel taxes. Over the past year, it has been more diÇcult to attract and
retain owner-operator drivers due to the weaker used truck pricing market, higher fuel prices, and weaker
economy.

Salaries, wages and beneÑts increased from 35.4% to 36.0% of revenues due in part to a higher percentage
of company drivers as compared to owner-operators and an increase in the number of drivers in training.
Workers' compensation and health insurance expense increased due to rising medical costs and higher weekly
state workers' compensation payment rates. In recent years, workers' compensation and health insurance costs
have been increasing at rates higher than inÖation, and this is expected to continue. These increases were
partially oÅset by an improvement in the tractor to non-driver employee ratio, which lowered non-driver labor
costs per mile. The market for attracting company drivers improved during 2001; however, the Company
anticipates that the competition for qualiÑed drivers will continue to be high, and cannot predict whether it
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will experience shortages in the future. If such a shortage was to occur and increases in driver pay rates
became necessary to attract and retain drivers, the Company's results of operations would be negatively
impacted to the extent that corresponding freight rate increases were not obtained.

Fuel decreased from 11.3% to 10.3% of revenues due to lower fuel prices, principally in the fourth quarter
of 2001. The average price per gallon of diesel fuel, excluding fuel taxes, was approximately $.11 per gallon
lower in 2001 versus 2000. The average price per gallon in fourth quarter 2001 was approximately $.17 per
gallon lower than the average price for the year of 2001 and was about the same as the average historical fuel
price levels over the past ten years. The Company's customer fuel surcharge reimbursement programs have
historically enabled the Company to recover most of the higher fuel prices from its customers compared to
normalized average fuel prices. These fuel surcharges, which automatically adjust from week to week
depending on the cost of fuel, enable the Company to rapidly recoup the higher cost of fuel when prices
increase. Conversely, when fuel prices decrease, fuel surcharges decrease. After considering the amounts
collected from customers through fuel surcharge programs, net of reimbursements to owner-operators, 2001
earnings per share increased by approximately $.07 over 2000 due to lower fuel costs. Shortages of fuel,
increases in fuel prices, or rationing of petroleum products can have a materially adverse eÅect on the
operations and proÑtability of the Company. The Company is unable to predict whether fuel prices will
continue to decrease or will increase in the future or the extent to which fuel surcharges will be collected from
customers. As of December 31, 2001, the Company had no derivative Ñnancial instruments to reduce its
exposure to fuel price Öuctuations.

Supplies and maintenance increased from 8.5% to 9.3% of revenues due to a higher percentage of
company drivers compared to owner-operators during 2001 and more maintenance services performed over-
the-road than at Company facilities.

Insurance and claims increased from 2.8% to 3.3% of revenues due to unfavorable claims experience in
2001 and higher excess insurance premiums. Insurance premiums in the liability insurance market have
increased signiÑcantly for many truckload carriers in recent months. For over ten years, the Company has been
self-insured and managed virtually all of its liability, cargo, and property damage claims with qualiÑed Risk
Department professionals. As a result, higher liability insurance rates have had a less signiÑcant eÅect on the
Company, impacting the Company only for catastrophic claim coverage. The Company renewed its annual
catastrophic liability insurance coverage eÅective August 1, 2001, and the eÅect of the increase in premiums
was less than 10% of the Company's total annual insurance and claims expense. The Company's premium rate
for liability coverage up to $3.0 million per claim is Ñxed through August 1, 2004, while coverage levels above
$3.0 million per claim will be renewed eÅective August 1, 2002.

Rent and purchased transportation expense decreased from 17.9% to 16.9% of revenues because of a
decrease in payments to owner-operators (11.0% of revenue in 2001 compared to 12.6% in 2000), oÅset by an
increase in purchased transportation relating to remaining non-trucking operations following the transfer of
most of the Company's logistics business to Transplace. The decrease in payments to owner-operators resulted
from the decrease in owner-operator miles as a percentage of total Company miles as discussed above. The
Company has experienced diÇculty recruiting and retaining owner-operators because of high fuel prices, a
weak used truck pricing market, and other factors. This has resulted in a reduction in the number of owner-
operator tractors from 1,175 as of December 31, 2000, to 1,135 as of December 31, 2001. The Company
reimburses owner-operators for the higher cost of fuel based on fuel surcharge reimbursements collected from
customers.

Other operating expenses changed from a credit of (0.2)% to an expense of 0.3% of revenues due in part
to a weak market for the sale of used trucks. Record levels of trucks manufactured during 1999 and 2000, an
increased supply of used trucks caused in part by trucking company business failures, and slower Öeet growth
by many carriers have all contributed to a decline in the market value of used trucks. During 2001, the
Company traded about two-thirds of its used trucks and sold about one-third to third parties. For trucks
traded, the excess of the trade price over the net book value of the trucks reduced the cost basis of new trucks.
In 2000, the Company traded half of its used trucks and sold half of its used trucks to third parties through its
Fleet Truck Sales retail network and realized gains of $5.1 million. In 2001, due to a lower average sale price

10



per truck, the Company realized losses of $0.7 million. The Company renegotiated its trade agreements with
its primary truck manufacturer in June 2001 and continued to expand its nationwide retail truck sales network
in response to the weak used truck market. Other operating expenses were also impacted by increasing the
allowance for uncollectible receivables for the Company's maximum credit exposure related to the fourth
quarter 2001 Enron bankruptcy of approximately $1.2 million. The Company has limited credit exposure for
the Ñrst quarter 2002 Kmart bankruptcy. The Company has focused on improving its collections of accounts
receivable; as such, days sales in accounts receivable decreased from 37 days as of December 31, 2000, to
35 days as of December 31, 2001.

Net interest expense and other decreased from 0.4% to 0.2% of revenues due to lower interest expense,
oÅset partially by the Company's share of Transplace operating losses. Interest expense decreased from 0.7%
to 0.3% of revenues due to a reduction in the Company's borrowings. Average debt outstanding in 2001 was
$77.5 million versus $125.0 million in 2000. In 2001, the Company recorded a loss of approximately
$1.7 million as its percentage share of estimated Transplace losses versus a gain of approximately $0.3 million
in 2000. The Company is recording its approximate 15% investment in Transplace using the equity method of
accounting and is accruing its percentage share of Transplace's earnings and losses as an other non-operating
item.

The Company's eÅective income tax rate (income taxes as a percentage of income before income taxes)
was 37.5% and 38.0% in 2001 and 2000, respectively, as described in Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements under Item 8 of this Form 10-K. The eÅective income tax rate for the 2001 period
decreased due to the implementation of certain tax strategies. The Company expects the 37.5% income tax
rate to be the tax rate in eÅect for 2002.

2000 Compared to 1999

Operating revenues increased 15% over 1999, due to an 8% increase in the average number of tractors in
service, a 3% increase in average revenue per mile (excluding fuel surcharges), and a 5% increase in revenues
due to fuel surcharges. Customer rate increases were the primary factor in the increase in average revenue per
mile (excluding fuel surcharges). Fuel surcharges were collected from customers in 2000 to recover a majority
of the increase in fuel expense caused by higher fuel prices.

The Company's operating ratio (operating expenses expressed as a percentage of operating revenues)
increased from 90.3% to 93.2%.

Salaries, wages and beneÑts decreased from 36.4% to 35.4% of revenues by maintaining the average
payroll cost per mile while at the same time increasing average revenue per mile. OÅsetting this, workers'
compensation expense increased due to rising medical costs and higher weekly state workers' compensation
payment rates.

Fuel increased from 7.5% to 11.3% of revenues due to substantially higher fuel prices. The average price
per gallon of diesel fuel, excluding fuel taxes, was 65% higher in 2000 than 1999. The Company implemented
customer fuel surcharge programs to recover a majority of the increased fuel cost.

Taxes and licenses decreased from 7.8% to 7.3% of revenues due to higher revenue per mile. On a cost per
mile basis, taxes and license expenses were about the same. Insurance and claims decreased slightly from 3.0%
to 2.8% of revenues. Improved liability claims experience was oÅset by increased cargo claims. Depreciation
decreased from 9.5% to 9.0% of revenues due to higher revenue per mile. On a cost per mile basis, depreciation
was slightly higher.

Rent and purchased transportation expense increased from 17.6% to 17.9% of revenues due primarily to
increases in rental expense on leased tractors (0.3% of revenue in 2000 compared to 0.1% in 1999) and
payments to owner-operators (12.6% of revenue in 2000 compared to 12.4% in 1999). Payments to owner-
operators increased slightly in 2000 compared to 1999 caused in part by an increase in owner-operator miles as
a percentage of total Company miles. On a per-mile basis, payments to owner-operators increased due to
amounts reimbursed by the Company to owner-operators for the higher cost of fuel. Increases in logistics and
other non-trucking transportation services in the Ñrst half of 2000 oÅset the decrease in the latter half of the
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year due to transferring most of the Company's logistics business to Transplace on June 30, 2000. The
Company is one of Ñve large truckload transportation companies that contributed their logistics businesses to
this commonly owned, Internet-based logistics company. The Company transferred logistics business
representing about 4% of total revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2000, to Transplace.

Other operating expenses changed from (1.1%) to (0.2%) of revenues due to a weak market for the sale
of used trucks. During 2000, the Company traded more of its used trucks, and the excess of the trade price
over the net book value of the trucks reduced the cost basis of new trucks. In 1999, the Company sold most of
its used trucks to third parties through its Fleet Truck Sales retail network and realized gains of $13.0 million.
In 2000, due to a reduced number of trucks sold to third parties and a lower average gain per truck, the
Company realized gains of $5.1 million.

The Company's eÅective income tax rate (income taxes as a percentage of income before income taxes)
was 38.0% in 2000 and 1999, as described in Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under
Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided by operating activities was $226.9 million in 2001, $170.1 million in 2000, and
$132.0 million in 1999. The 33.4% increase ($56.8 million) in operating cash Öows from 2000 to 2001 was due
primarily to higher depreciation due to the growth of the Company truck Öeet ($6.9 million), increased
deferred taxes due to the implementation of certain tax strategies and growth of the Company truck Öeet
($23.8 million), a small loss versus gains on disposal of operating equipment due to a weaker used truck
pricing market ($5.8 million), increased long-term insurance and claims accruals ($4.5 million), decreases in
other long-term assets ($3.8 million), and working capital improvements ($8.0 million). The cash Öow from
operations enabled the Company to make capital expenditures and repay debt as discussed below.

Net cash used in investing activities was $126.9 million in 2001, $113.2 million in 2000, and
$171.0 million in 1999. The growth of the Company's business has required signiÑcant investment in new
revenue equipment. Net capital expenditures in 2001, 2000, and 1999 were $126.2 million, $108.5 million, and
$171.0 million, respectively. The capital expenditures in 2001 and 2000 were Ñnanced primarily with cash
provided by operations and, to a lesser extent in 1999, borrowings. Capital expenditures were higher in 2001
due to the Company's completion of various construction projects including the Laredo, Texas terminal, the
Dallas, Texas terminal expansion, and the driver training facility. The Company also invested $5.0 million in
Transplace in 2000.

As of December 31, 2001, the Company has committed to approximately $23 million of net capital
expenditures, which is a small portion of its estimated 2002 capital expenditures.

Net Ñnancing activities used $51.1 million in 2001 and $46.8 million in 2000 and generated $38.5 million
in 1999. In 2001 and 2000 respectively, the Company made net repayments of $55.0 million and $40.0 million
of debt compared to net borrowings of $45.0 million in 1999. The Company paid dividends of $4.7 million in
2001, $4.7 million in 2000, and $4.7 million in 1999. Financing activities also included common stock
repurchases of $2.8 million in 2000 and $3.9 million in 1999. From time to time, the Company has and may
continue to repurchase shares of its common stock. The timing and amount of such purchases depends on
market and other factors. The Company's board of directors has authorized the repurchase of up to 3,333,333
shares. As of December 31, 2001, the Company has purchased 1,704,701 shares pursuant to this authorization.

The Company's Ñnancial position is strong. As of December 31, 2001, the Company had $74 million of
cash and cash equivalents, $50 million of debt, and $590 million of stockholders' equity. Based on the
Company's strong Ñnancial position, management foresees no signiÑcant barriers to obtaining suÇcient
Ñnancing, if necessary.
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table sets forth the Company's contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of
December 31, 2001.

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years After 5 years

(In millions)

Long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $50.0 $30.0 $20.0 $Ì $Ì

Operating leasesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.3 3.2 0.1 Ì Ì

Total contractual cash obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $53.3 $33.2 $20.1 $Ì $Ì

Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period

Other Commercial Total Amounts
Commitments Committed Less than 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years Over 5 years

(In millions)

Unused lines of credit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $25.0 $ 5.0 $20.0 $Ì $Ì

Standby letters of creditÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12.2 12.2 Ì Ì Ì

Other commercial commitmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 23.0 23.0 Ì Ì Ì

Total commercial commitments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $60.2 $40.2 $20.0 $Ì $Ì

The unused lines of credit are available to the Company in the event the Company needs Ñnancing for the
growth of its Öeet. With the Company's strong Ñnancial position, the Company expects it could obtain
additional Ñnancing, if necessary, at favorable terms. The standby letters of credit are primarily required for
insurance policies. The other commercial commitments relate to committed equipment expenditures, which is
a small portion of planned equipment expenditures for 2002.

InÖation

InÖation can be expected to have an impact on the Company's operating costs. A prolonged period of
inÖation could cause interest rates, fuel, wages, and other costs to increase and could adversely aÅect the
Company's results of operations unless freight rates could be increased correspondingly. However, the eÅect of
inÖation has been minimal over the past three years.

Year 2000 Issue

The impact of the Year 2000 issue on the Company's operations was insigniÑcant.

Forward Looking Statements and Risk Factors

This discussion and analysis contains historical and forward-looking information. The forward-looking
statements are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. The Company believes the assumptions underlying these forward-looking statements are reasonable
based on information currently available, however any of the assumptions could be inaccurate, and therefore,
actual results may diÅer materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of
certain risks and uncertainties. Those risks include, but are not limited to, the following:

The Company's business is modestly seasonal with peak freight demand occurring generally in the
months of September, October, and November. During the winter months, the Company's freight
volumes are typically lower as some customers have lower shipment levels after the Christmas holiday
season. The Company's operating expenses have historically been higher in winter months primarily due
to decreased fuel eÇciency, increased maintenance costs of revenue equipment in colder weather, and
increased insurance and claims costs due to adverse winter weather conditions. The Company attempts to
minimize the impact of seasonality through its marketing program by seeking additional freight from
certain customers during traditionally slower shipping periods. Bad weather, holidays, and the number of
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business days during the period can also aÅect revenue, since revenue is directly related to available
working days of shippers.

The trucking industry is highly competitive and includes thousands of trucking companies. This
competition could limit the Company's growth opportunities and reduce its proÑtability. The Company
competes primarily with other truckload carriers. Railroads, less-than-truckload carriers, and private
carriers also provide competition, but to a lesser degree. Competition for the freight transported by the
Company is based primarily on service and eÇciency and, to some degree, on freight rates alone.

The Company is sensitive to changes in overall economic conditions that impact customer shipping
volumes. The general slowdown in the economy during 2001 had a negative eÅect on freight volumes for
truckload carriers, including the Company. As the unemployment rate increased, driver availability
improved for the Company and the industry. Fuel prices increased beginning in fourth quarter 1999 and
were high through 2000 and 2001 before decreasing in the latter part of 2001. Shortages of fuel, increases
in fuel prices, or rationing of petroleum products can have a materially adverse impact on the operations
and proÑtability of the Company. To the extent that the Company cannot recover the higher cost of fuel
through customer fuel surcharges, the Company's results would be negatively impacted. Future economic
conditions that may aÅect the Company include employment levels, business conditions, fuel and energy
costs, interest rates, and tax rates.

The Company is regulated by the United States Department of Transportation (DOT). This
regulatory authority establishes broad powers, generally governing activities such as authorization to
engage in motor carrier operations, safety, Ñnancial reporting, and other matters. The Company may
become subject to new or more comprehensive regulations relating to fuel emissions, driver hours of
service, or other issues mandated by the DOT. For example, new engine emissions standards are to
become eÅective for truck engine manufacturers in October 2002. These new engines have not yet been
available for adequate testing. These new engines may be more costly and less fuel eÇcient.

At times, there have been shortages of drivers in the trucking industry. Although the market for
attracting company drivers improved during 2001 due to the higher domestic unemployment rate and
other factors, the Company anticipates that the competition for company drivers will continue to be high.
During 2001, it became more diÇcult to recruit and retain owner-operator drivers due to the weak used
truck pricing market and higher fuel prices for most of the year. The Company anticipates that the
competition for company drivers and owner-operator drivers will continue to be high and cannot predict
whether it will experience shortages in the future.

The Company is highly dependent on the services of key personnel including Clarence L. Werner
and other executive oÇcers. Although the Company believes it has an experienced and highly qualiÑed
management group, the loss of the services of these executive oÇcers could have a material adverse
impact on the Company and its future proÑtability.

The Company is dependent on its vendors and suppliers. The Company believes it has good
relationships with its vendors and that it is generally able to obtain attractive pricing and other terms from
vendors and suppliers. If the Company fails to maintain good relationships with its vendors and suppliers
or if its vendors and suppliers experience signiÑcant Ñnancial problems, the Company could face diÇculty
in obtaining needed goods and services because of interruptions of production or for other reasons, which
could adversely aÅect the Company's business.

The eÇcient operation of the Company's business is highly dependent on its information systems.
Much of the Company's software has been developed internally or by adapting purchased software
applications to the Company's needs. The Company has purchased redundant computer hardware
systems and has its own oÅ-site disaster recovery facility approximately ten miles from the Company's
oÇces to use in the event of a disaster. The Company has taken these steps to reduce the risk of
disruption to its business operation if a disaster were to occur.

The Company self-insures for liability resulting from cargo loss, personal injury, and property
damage as well as workers' compensation. This is supplemented by premium insurance with licensed
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insurance companies above the Company's self-insurance level for each type of coverage. To the extent
that the Company was to experience a signiÑcant increase in the number of claims or the cost per claim,
the Company's operating results would be negatively aÅected.

The Company maintains a three-year replacement cycle on its tractors. The Company sells tractors
to third parties or trades tractors to manufacturers to maintain a new truck Öeet. Used truck pricing for
three-year-old tractors has declined by approximately $12,000 to $15,000 per tractor from 1999 to year-
end 2001. In 1999, the Company realized gains on sales of tractors of $13.0 million or $0.13 per share,
resulting from used truck prices that were in excess of the Company's net book value for those trucks. For
the last half of 2001, used truck pricing for three-year-old tractors was approximately the same as the
Company's net book value for those trucks. Should the used truck pricing market become signiÑcantly
worse and the Company decided to sell trucks at a loss rather than extend the life of its trucks, this could
have a material adverse eÅect on the Company's business and operating results. Also, the Company
currently trades a portion of its three-year-old tractors to its primary tractor manufacturer at Ñxed prices.
There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to continue to negotiate comparable trade
agreements in future years, which may require the Company to sell more of its trucks to third parties
using the Company's retail truck sales network.

Caution should be taken not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements made herein, since
the statements speak only as of the date they are made. The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly
release any revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reÖect events or circumstances
after the date of this report or to reÖect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates and commodity prices.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company's only outstanding debt at December 31, 2001, was $50 million of Ñxed rate debt. Interest
rates on the Company's unused credit facilities are based on the London Interbank OÅered Rate (LIBOR).
Increases in interest rates could impact the Company's annual interest expense on future borrowings.

Commodity Price Risk

The price and availability of diesel fuel are subject to Öuctuations due to changes in the level of global oil
production, seasonality, weather, and other market factors. Historically, the Company has been able to recover
a majority of fuel price increases from customers in the form of fuel surcharges. The Company cannot predict
the extent to which high fuel price levels will occur in the future or the extent to which fuel surcharges could
be collected to oÅset such increases. As of December 31, 2001, the Company had no derivative Ñnancial
instruments to reduce its exposure to fuel price Öuctuations.

The Company conducts business in Mexico and Canada. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses
were not material to the Company's results of operations for 2001 and prior years. Accordingly, the Company
is not currently subject to material foreign currency exchange rate risks from the eÅects that exchange rate
movements of foreign currencies would have on the Company's future costs or on future cash Öows. To date,
the Company receives payment for freight services performed in Mexico and Canada primarily in U.S. dollars
to reduce foreign currency risk.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Werner Enterprises, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Werner Enterprises, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001, and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of income,
stockholders' equity and cash Öows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2001. In
connection with our audits of the consolidated Ñnancial statements, we have also audited the Ñnancial
statement schedule for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2001, listed in
Item 14(a)(2) of this Form 10-K. These consolidated Ñnancial statements and Ñnancial statement schedule
are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated Ñnancial statements and Ñnancial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the Ñnancial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Ñnancial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and signiÑcant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall Ñnancial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated Ñnancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the Ñnancial position of Werner Enterprises, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001, and
2000, and the results of their operations and their cash Öows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. In addition, in our opinion, the Ñnancial statement schedule referred to above, when considered in
relation to the basic consolidated Ñnancial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects,
the information for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001, set forth therein.

KPMG LLP

Omaha, Nebraska
January 22, 2002, except as to the second paragraph of
Note 3 and Note 9 which are as of February 11, 2002
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WERNER ENTERPRISES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

2001 2000 1999

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Operating revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,270,519 $1,214,628 $1,052,333

Operating expenses:

Salaries, wages and beneÑts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 457,433 429,825 382,824

Fuel ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 131,498 137,620 79,029

Supplies and maintenanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 117,882 102,784 87,600

Taxes and licenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 93,628 89,126 82,089

Insurance and claimsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 41,946 34,147 31,728

Depreciation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 116,043 109,107 99,955

Rent and purchased transportationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 214,336 216,917 185,129

Communications and utilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14,365 14,454 13,444

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,059 (2,173) (11,666)

Total operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,191,190 1,131,807 950,132

Operating incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 79,329 82,821 102,201

Other expense (income):

Interest expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,775 8,169 6,565

Interest incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,628) (2,650) (1,407)

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,791 (154) 245

Total other expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,938 5,365 5,403

Income before income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 76,391 77,456 96,798

Income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 28,647 29,433 36,787

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 47,744 $ 48,023 $ 60,011

Average common shares outstandingÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 63,147 62,748 63,207

Basic earnings per shareÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.76 $ 0.77 $ 0.95

Diluted shares outstanding ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 64,147 63,010 63,508

Diluted earnings per share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.74 $ 0.76 $ 0.94

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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WERNER ENTERPRISES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2001 2000

(In thousands, except
share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 74,366 $ 25,485
Accounts receivable, trade, less allowance of $4,966 and $3,994, respectively 121,354 123,518
Receivable from unconsolidated aÇliate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 5,332
Other receivables ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,527 10,257
Inventories and supplies ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,432 7,329
Prepaid taxes, licenses, and permitsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,333 12,396
Current deferred income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 11,552
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,055 10,908

Total current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 236,067 206,777

Property and equipment, at cost:
Land ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19,357 19,157
Buildings and improvementsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 79,704 72,631
Revenue equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 854,603 829,549
Service equipment and other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 115,941 100,342

Total property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,069,605 1,021,679
Less Ì accumulated depreciation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 354,122 313,881

Property and equipment, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 715,483 707,798

Notes receivableÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,408 4,420
Investment in unconsolidated aÇliate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,660 5,324
Other non-current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,396 2,888

$ 964,014 $ 927,207

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 33,188 $ 30,710
Current portion of long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 30,000 Ì
Insurance and claims accruals ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 40,254 36,057
Accrued payroll ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15,008 12,746
Income taxes payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,268 7,157
Current deferred income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20,473 Ì
Other current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,066 14,749

Total current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 152,257 101,419

Long-term debt, net of current portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20,000 105,000
Deferred income taxesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 162,907 152,403
Insurance, claims and other long-term accruals ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 38,801 32,301
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:

Common stock, $.01 par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized; 64,427,780
shares issued; 63,636,823 and 62,719,053 shares outstanding, respectively ÏÏ 644 644

Paid-in capital ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 106,058 105,683
Retained earningsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 490,942 447,943
Accumulated other comprehensive lossÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (43) (34)
Treasury stock, at cost; 790,957 and 1,708,727 shares, respectivelyÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7,552) (18,152)

Total stockholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 590,049 536,084

$ 964,014 $ 927,207

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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WERNER ENTERPRISES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

2001 2000 1999

(In thousands)

Cash Öows from operating activities:
Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 47,744 $ 48,023 $ 60,011
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by

operating activities:
DepreciationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 116,043 109,107 99,955
Deferred income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 42,529 18,751 22,200
Loss (gain) on disposal of operating equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 740 (5,055) (13,047)
Equity in (income) loss of unconsolidated aÇliateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,664 (324) Ì
Tax beneÑt from exercise of stock optionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,384 130 663
Other long-term assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 938 (2,888) Ì
Insurance, claims and other long-term accruals ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,500 2,000 (500)
Changes in certain working capital items:

Accounts receivable, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,164 3,693 (32,882)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,875 (8,474) (8,725)
Accounts payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,478 (4,976) (12,460)
Accrued and other current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,139) 10,160 16,762

Net cash provided by operating activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 226,920 170,147 131,977

Cash Öows from investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (170,862) (169,113) (255,326)
Retirements of property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 44,710 60,608 84,297
Investment in unconsolidated aÇliateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (5,000) Ì
Decrease (increase) in notes receivableÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (750) 287 Ì

Net cash used in investing activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (126,902) (113,218) (171,029)

Cash Öows from Ñnancing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,000 10,000 30,000
Repayments of long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (60,000) (25,000) Ì
Proceeds from issuance of short-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 30,000
Repayments of short-term debtÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (25,000) (15,000)
Dividends on common stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4,728) (4,710) (4,740)
Repurchases of common stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (2,759) (3,941)
Stock options exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,591 657 2,188

Net cash provided by (used in) Ñnancing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (51,137) (46,812) 38,507

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 48,881 10,117 (545)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25,485 15,368 15,913

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 74,366 $ 25,485 $ 15,368

Supplemental disclosures of cash Öow information:
Cash paid (received) during year for:

Interest ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4,315 $ 7,876 $ 7,329
Income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (9,540) 3,916 13,275

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing activities:
Notes receivable issued upon sale of revenue equipmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 238 $ 4,707 $ Ì
Warehouse assets contributed to LLC ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,446 Ì Ì

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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WERNER ENTERPRISES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accumulated
Other Total

Common Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Treasury Stockholders'
Stock Capital Earnings Loss Stock Equity

(In thousands, except share amounts)

BALANCE, December 31, 1998ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $644 $105,177 $349,351 $ Ì $(14,584) $440,588

Purchases of 403,467 shares of common
stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì (3,941) (3,941)

Dividends on common stock ($.075 per
share) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (4,737) Ì Ì (4,737)

Exercise of stock options, 264,701 shares,
including tax beneÑtsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 546 Ì Ì 2,305 2,851

Comprehensive income:

Net incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 60,011 Ì Ì 60,011

BALANCE, December 31, 1999ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 644 105,723 404,625 Ì (16,220) 494,772

Purchases of 300,268 shares of common
stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì Ì (2,759) (2,759)

Dividends on common stock ($.075 per
share) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (4,705) Ì Ì (4,705)

Exercise of stock options, 79,007 shares,
including tax beneÑtsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (40) Ì Ì 827 787

Comprehensive income (loss):

Net incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 48,023 Ì Ì 48,023

Foreign currency translation
adjustmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì (34) Ì (34)

Total comprehensive income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 48,023 (34) Ì 47,989

BALANCE, December 31, 2000ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 644 105,683 447,943 (34) (18,152) 536,084

Dividends on common stock ($.075 per
share) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (4,745) Ì Ì (4,745)

Exercise of stock options, 917,770 shares,
including tax beneÑtsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 375 Ì Ì 10,600 10,975

Comprehensive income (loss):

Net incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 47,744 Ì Ì 47,744

Foreign currency translation
adjustmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì (9) Ì (9)

Total comprehensive income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 47,744 (9) Ì 47,735

BALANCE, December 31, 2001ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $644 $106,058 $490,942 $(43) $ (7,552) $590,049

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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WERNER ENTERPRISES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) Summary of SigniÑcant Accounting Policies

Nature of Business

Werner Enterprises, Inc. (the Company) is a truckload transportation company operating under the
jurisdiction of the Department of Transportation and various state regulatory commissions. The Company
maintains a diversiÑed freight base with no one customer or industry making up a signiÑcant percentage of the
Company's receivables or revenues. The largest single customer generated 9% of revenues for 2001.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated Ñnancial statements include the accounts of Werner Enterprises, Inc.
and its majority-owned subsidiaries. All signiÑcant intercompany accounts and transactions relating to these
majority-owned entities have been eliminated. The equity method of accounting is used for the Company's
investment in Transplace (see Note 2).

Use of Management Estimates

The preparation of consolidated Ñnancial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that aÅect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated Ñnancial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could diÅer from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments, purchased with a maturity of three months or less,
to be cash equivalents.

Inventories and Supplies

Inventories and supplies consist primarily of revenue equipment parts, tires, fuel and supplies and are
stated at average cost. Tires placed on new revenue equipment are capitalized as a part of the equipment cost.
Replacement tires are expensed when placed in service.

Property, Equipment, and Depreciation

Additions and improvements to property and equipment are capitalized at cost, while maintenance and
repair expenditures are charged to operations as incurred. If equipment is traded rather than sold, the cost of
new equipment is recorded at an amount equal to the lower of the monetary consideration paid plus the net
book value of the traded property or the fair value of the new equipment.

Depreciation is calculated based on the cost of the asset, reduced by its estimated salvage value, using the
straight-line method. Accelerated depreciation methods are used for income tax purposes. The lives and
salvage values assigned to certain assets for Ñnancial reporting purposes are diÅerent than for income tax
purposes. For Ñnancial reporting purposes, assets are depreciated over the estimated useful lives of 30 years for
buildings and improvements, 5 to 10 years for revenue equipment, and 3 to 10 years for service and other
equipment.

Insurance and Claims Accruals

Insurance and claims accruals, both current and noncurrent, reÖect the estimated cost for cargo loss and
damage, bodily injury and property damage (BI/PD), group health, and workers' compensation claims,
including estimated loss development and loss adjustment expenses, not covered by insurance. The costs for

21



WERNER ENTERPRISES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)

cargo and BI/PD insurance and claims are included in insurance and claims expense, while the costs of group
health and workers' compensation claims are included in salaries, wages and beneÑts expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. The insurance and claims accruals are recorded at the estimated ultimate
payment amounts and are based upon individual case estimates and estimates of incurred-but-not-reported
losses based upon past experience.

The Company has been responsible for liability claims up to $500,000, plus administrative expenses, for
each occurrence involving personal injury or property damage since August 1, 1992. The Company is also
responsible for varying annual aggregate amounts of liability for claims above $500,000 and below $4,000,000.
For the policy year ending August 1, 2002, these annual aggregate amounts total $4,500,000. Liability in
excess of these risk retention levels is assumed by the insurance carriers in amounts which management
considers adequate. The Company's premium rate for liability coverage up to $3,000,000 per claim is Ñxed
through August 1, 2004, while coverage levels above $3,000,000 per claim will be renewed eÅective August 1,
2002.

The Company has assumed responsibility for workers' compensation, maintains a $19,000,000 bond, has
statutory coverage, and has obtained insurance for individual claims above $500,000.

Under these insurance arrangements, the Company maintains $12,100,000 in letters of credit, as of
December 31, 2001.

Revenue Recognition

The Consolidated Statements of Income reÖect recognition of operating revenues and related direct costs
when the shipment is delivered.

Foreign Currency Translation

Local currencies are generally considered the functional currencies outside the United States. Assets and
liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates for operations in local currency environments. Income and
expense items are translated at average rates of exchange prevailing during the year. Foreign currency
translation adjustments reÖect the changes in foreign currency exchange rates applicable to the net assets of
the Mexican operations for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, and of the Canadian operations for
the year ended December 31, 2001. The amounts of such translation adjustments were not signiÑcant for all
years presented (see the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity).

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 109 in accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary diÅerences between the Ñnancial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary diÅerences are expected to be recovered or settled.

Common Stock and Earnings Per Share

The Company computes and presents earnings per share (EPS) in accordance with SFAS No. 128,
Earnings per Share. The diÅerence between the Company's weighted average shares outstanding and diluted
shares outstanding is due to the dilutive eÅect of stock options for all periods presented. There are no
diÅerences in the numerator of the Company's computations of basic and diluted EPS for any period
presented.
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WERNER ENTERPRISES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of net income and other comprehensive income (loss). Other compre-
hensive income (loss) refers to revenues, expenses, gains and losses that are not included in net income, but
rather are recorded directly in stockholders' equity. For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
comprehensive income consists of net income and foreign currency translation adjustments. For the year
ended December 31, 1999, the Company had no items of other comprehensive income (loss), and,
accordingly, comprehensive income is the same as net income.

Accounting Standards

On July 20, 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 141
(SFAS 141), Business Combinations and No. 142 (SFAS 142), Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.
SFAS 141 requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001, to be accounted for using the
purchase method. Business combinations accounted for as poolings-of-interests and initiated prior to June 30,
2001, are grandfathered. SFAS 142 replaces the requirement to amortize intangible assets with indeÑnite lives
and goodwill with a requirement for an impairment test. The elimination of the requirement to amortize
goodwill also applies to investments accounted for under the equity method of accounting. SFAS 142 also
requires an evaluation of intangible assets and their useful lives and a transitional impairment test for goodwill
and certain intangible assets upon adoption. After transition, the impairment tests will be performed annually.
SFAS 142 is eÅective for Ñscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, as of the beginning of the year. As of
December 31, 2001, the Company has no goodwill or intangible assets recorded in its Ñnancial statements.
Management believes that SFAS 141 and SFAS 142 will have no signiÑcant eÅect on the Ñnancial position,
results of operations, and cash Öows of the Company.

During June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143 (SFAS 143), Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations. This Statement addresses Ñnancial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the
retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. SFAS 143 requires an
enterprise to record the fair value of an asset retirement obligation as a liability in the period in which it incurs
a legal obligation associated with the retirement of a tangible long-lived asset. SFAS 143 is eÅective for Ñscal
years beginning after June 15, 2002. As of December 31, 2001, management believes that SFAS 143 will have
no signiÑcant eÅect on the Ñnancial position, results of operations, and cash Öows of the Company.

On October 3, 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144 (SFAS 144), Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, which addresses Ñnancial accounting and reporting for the impairment or
disposal of long-lived assets. While SFAS 144 supersedes SFAS No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of
Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of, it retains many of the fundamental provisions
of that Statement. SFAS 144 is eÅective for Ñscal years beginning after December 31, 2001. As of
December 31, 2001, management believes that SFAS 144 will have no signiÑcant eÅect on the Ñnancial
position, results of operations, and cash Öows of the Company.

(2) Investment in Unconsolidated AÇliate

EÅective June 30, 2000, the Company contributed its non-asset based logistics business to Transplace
(TPC), in exchange for an equity interest in TPC of approximately 15%. TPC is a joint venture of Ñve large
transportation companies Ì Covenant Transport, Inc.; J.B. Hunt Transport Services, Inc.; Swift Transporta-
tion Co., Inc.; U.S. Xpress Enterprises, Inc.; and Werner Enterprises, Inc. The Company is accounting for its
investment in TPC using the equity method. Management believes this method is appropriate because the
Company has the ability to exercise signiÑcant inÖuence over operating and Ñnancial policies of TPC through
its representation on the TPC board of directors. At December 31, 2001, the investment in unconsolidated
aÇliate (in thousands) is $3,660 (which includes a $5,000 cash investment in TPC less $1,340, which
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WERNER ENTERPRISES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)

represents the Company's 15% equity in the loss from operations of unconsolidated aÇliate since June 30,
2000). The Company is not responsible for the debt of Transplace.

In October 2000, the Company provided funds (in thousands) of $3,200 to TPC in the form of a short-
term note with an interest rate of 8%. The Company recorded interest income on the note from TPC (in
thousands) of approximately $26 and $61 during 2001 and 2000, respectively. The note was repaid in full in
February 2001.

The Company and TPC enter into transactions with each other for certain of their purchased
transportation needs. The Company recorded operating revenue (in thousands) from TPC of approximately
$30,600 and $15,500 in 2001 and 2000, respectively, and recorded purchased transportation expense to TPC of
approximately $10,500 and $1,500 during 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company also provides certain administrative functions to TPC as well as providing oÇce space,
supplies, and communications. The allocation from the Company for these services (in thousands) was
approximately $407 and $518 during 2001 and 2000, respectively. The allocations for rent are recorded in the
Consolidated Statements of Income as miscellaneous revenue, and the remaining amounts are recorded as a
reduction of the respective operating expenses.

The Company believes that the transactions with TPC are on terms no less favorable to the Company
than those that could be obtained from unaÇliated third parties, on an arm's length basis.

(3) Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following at December 31 (in thousands):

2001 2000

Notes payable to banks under committed credit facilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ 55,000

6.55% Series A Senior Notes, due November 2002ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20,000 20,000

6.02% Series B Senior Notes, due November 2002ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,000 10,000

5.52% Series C Senior Notes, due December 2003ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20,000 20,000

50,000 105,000

Less current portionÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 30,000 Ì

Long-term debt, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $20,000 $105,000

EÅective February 11, 2002, the Company reduced its credit facilities to $25 million of available credit
pursuant to credit facilities with banks which bear variable interest based on LIBOR, on which no borrowings
were outstanding at December 31, 2001. Each of the debt agreements require, among other things, that the
Company maintain a minimum consolidated tangible net worth and not exceed a maximum ratio of
indebtedness to total capitalization. The Company was in compliance with these covenants at December 31,
2001.

The aggregate future maturities of long-term and short-term debt by year consist of the following at
December 31, 2001, (in thousands):

2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $30,000

2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20,000

$50,000

The carrying amount of the Company's long-term debt approximates fair value due to the duration of the
notes and their interest rates.
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(4) Leases

The Company leases certain revenue equipment under operating leases which expire through 2003. At
December 31, 2001, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable revenue equipment operating
leases are as follows (in thousands):

2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $3,219

2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 100

Rental expense under non-cancelable revenue equipment operating leases (in thousands) was $3,237 in
2001, $3,185 in 2000, and $596 in 1999.

(5) Income Taxes

Income tax expense consists of the following (in thousands):

2001 2000 1999

Current

Federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(12,194) $ 9,132 $11,787

State ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,688) 1,550 2,800

(13,882) 10,682 14,587

Deferred

Federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 37,358 16,001 19,112

State ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,171 2,750 3,088

42,529 18,751 22,200

Total income tax expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 28,647 $29,433 $36,787

The eÅective income tax rate diÅers from the federal corporate tax rate of 35% in 2001, 2000, and 1999 as
follows (in thousands):

2001 2000 1999

Tax at statutory rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $26,737 $27,110 $33,879

State income taxes, net of federal tax beneÑts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,264 2,795 3,827

Income tax credits ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (638) (638) (691)

Other, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 284 166 (228)

$28,647 $29,433 $36,787

25



WERNER ENTERPRISES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)

At December 31, deferred tax assets and liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

2001 2000

Deferred tax assets:

Insurance and claims accruals ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 27,016 $ 24,706

Allowance for uncollectible accountsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,752 1,425

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,579 3,099

Gross deferred tax assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 32,347 29,230

Deferred tax liabilities:

Property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 166,818 161,338

Prepaid expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 38,286 4,431

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,623 4,312

Gross deferred tax liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 215,727 170,081

Net deferred tax liabilityÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $183,380 $140,851

These amounts (in thousands) are presented in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
December 31 as follows:

2001 2000

Current deferred tax assetÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ 11,552

Current deferred tax liability ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20,473 Ì

Noncurrent deferred tax liability ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 162,907 152,403

Net deferred tax liabilityÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $183,380 $140,851

(6) Stock Option and Employee BeneÑt Plans

Stock Option Plan

The Company's Stock Option Plan (the Stock Option Plan) is a nonqualiÑed plan that provides for the
grant of options to management employees. Options are granted at prices equal to the market value of the
common stock on the date the option is granted.

Options granted become exercisable in installments from six to seventy-two months after the date of
grant. The options are exercisable over a period not to exceed ten years and one day from the date of grant.
The maximum number of shares of common stock that may be optioned under the Stock Option Plan is
11,666,667 shares.

At December 31, 2001, 3,129,679 shares were available for granting additional options. At December 31,
2001, 2000, and 1999, options for 828,851, 1,124,919, and 892,237 shares with weighted average exercise
prices of $10.31, $9.81, and $9.47 were exercisable, respectively.
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The following table summarizes Stock Option Plan activity for the three years ended December 31, 2001:

Options Outstanding

Weighted-Average
Shares Exercise Price

Balance, December 31, 1998 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,033,306 9.98

Options granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,892,680 9.39

Options exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (264,701) 8.27

Options canceled ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (26,668) 11.27

Balance, December 31, 1999 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,634,617 9.79

Options granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,506,667 9.65

Options exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (79,007) 8.17

Options canceled ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (275,693) 9.77

Balance, December 31, 2000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,786,584 9.77

Options granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,598,000 12.22

Options exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (917,770) 9.36

Options canceled ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (95,553) 9.60

Balance, December 31, 2001 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,371,261 10.57

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at
December 31, 2001:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted-Average
Range of Number Remaining Weighted-Average Number Weighted-Average

Exercise Prices Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price

$ 7.85 to $ 9.94 3,088,113 8.0 years $ 9.37 465,724 $ 8.87

$11.20 to $15.38 2,283,148 8.7 years 12.20 363,127 12.15

5,371,261 8.3 years 10.57 828,851 10.31

The Company applies the intrinsic value based method of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion
No. 25 and related interpretations in accounting for its Stock Option Plan. SFAS No. 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation requires pro forma disclosure of net income and earnings per share had the
estimated fair value of option grants on their grant date been charged to salaries, wages and beneÑts. The fair
value of the options granted during 2001, 2000, and 1999 was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model with the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 5.0 percent in 2001, 6.0 percent in
2000, and 6.5 percent in 1999; dividend yield of 0.4 percent in 2001 and 0.5 percent in 2000 and 1999;
expected life of 8.0 years in 2001 and 2000, and 7.0 years in 1999; and volatility of 38 percent in 2001,
35 percent in 2000, and 30 percent in 1999. The weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2001,
2000, and 1999 was $6.13, $4.79, and $4.17 per share, respectively. The Company's pro forma net income and
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earnings per share would have been as indicated below had the fair value of option grants been charged to
salaries, wages, and beneÑts:

2001 2000 1999

Net income (in thousands)

As reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $47,744 $48,023 $60,011

Pro formaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 44,589 45,735 59,170

Basic earnings per share

As reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.76 0.77 0.95

Pro formaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.71 0.73 0.94

Diluted earnings per share

As reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.74 0.76 0.94

Pro formaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.70 0.73 0.93

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Employees meeting certain eligibility requirements may participate in the Company's Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (the Purchase Plan). Eligible participants designate the amount of regular payroll deductions
and/or single annual payment, subject to a yearly maximum amount, that is used to purchase shares of the
Company's common stock on the Over-The-Counter Market subject to the terms of the Purchase Plan. The
Company contributes an amount equal to 15% of each participant's contributions under the Purchase Plan.
Company contributions for the Purchase Plan (in thousands) were $108, $117, and $104 for 2001, 2000, and
1999, respectively. Interest accrues on Purchase Plan contributions at a rate of 5.25%. The broker's
commissions and administrative charges related to purchases of common stock under the Purchase Plan are
paid by the Company.

401(k) Retirement Savings Plan

The Company has an Employees' 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan (the 401(k) Plan). Employees are
eligible to participate in the 401(k) Plan if they have been continuously employed with the Company or its
subsidiaries for six months or more. The Company matches a portion of the amount each employee
contributes to the 401(k) Plan. It is the Company's intention, but not its obligation, that the Company's total
annual contribution for employees will equal at least 21/2 percent of net income (exclusive of extraordinary
items). Salaries, wages and beneÑts expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income
includes Company 401(k) Plan contributions and administrative expenses (in thousands) of $1,574, $1,528,
and $1,364 for 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

(7) Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has committed to approximately $23 million of net capital expenditures, which is a small
portion of its estimated 2002 capital expenditures.

The Company is involved in certain claims and pending litigation arising in the normal course of business.
Management believes the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material eÅect on the
consolidated Ñnancial statements of the Company.

(8) Segment Information

The Company has one reportable segment Ì Truckload Transportation Services. This segment consists
of Ñve operating Öeets that have been aggregated since they have similar economic characteristics and meet
the other aggregation criteria of SFAS No. 131. The Medium- to Long-Haul Van Öeet transports a variety of
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consumer, non-durable products and other commodities in truckload quantities over irregular routes using dry
van trailers. The Regional Short-Haul Öeet provides comparable truckload van service within Ñve geographic
regions. The Flatbed and Temperature-Controlled Öeets provide truckload services for products with
specialized trailers. The Dedicated Services Öeet provides truckload services required by a speciÑc company,
plant, or distribution center.

The Company generates non-trucking revenues related to freight transportation management, third-party
equipment maintenance, and other business activities. None of these operations meet the quantitative
threshold reporting requirements of SFAS No. 131. As a result, these operations are grouped in ""Other'' in the
table below. The Company does not prepare separate balance sheets by segments and, as a result, assets are
not separately identiÑable by segment. The Company has no signiÑcant intersegment sales or expense
transactions that would result in adjustments necessary to eliminate amounts between the Company's
segments.

The following tables summarize the Company's segment information (in thousands):

Revenues

2001 2000 1999

Truckload Transportation ServicesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,196,518 $1,148,651 $ 991,954

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 74,001 65,977 60,379

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,270,519 $1,214,628 $1,052,333

Operating Income

2001 2000 1999

Truckload Transportation Services ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $78,807 $83,773 $ 99,419

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 522 (952) 2,782

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $79,329 $82,821 $102,201

Substantially all of the Company's revenues are generated within the United States or from North
American shipments with origins or destinations in the United States. No one customer accounts for more
than 9% of the Company's revenues.

(9) Common Stock Split

On February 11, 2002, the Company announced that its Board of Directors declared a four-for-three split
of the Company's common stock eÅected in the form of a 331/3 percent stock dividend. The stock dividend was
payable on March 14, 2002, to stockholders of record at the close of business on February 25, 2002. No
fractional shares of common stock were issued in connection with the stock split. Stockholders entitled to
fractional shares received a proportional cash payment based on the closing price of a share of common stock
on February 25, 2002.

All share and per-share information included in the accompanying consolidated Ñnancial statements for
all periods presented have been adjusted to retroactively reÖect the stock split.
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(10) Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

2001:

Operating revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $304,577 $322,777 $322,618 $320,547

Operating incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16,059 19,933 20,621 22,716

Net incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,455 12,091 12,453 13,745

Diluted earnings per share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.15 0.19 0.19 0.21

2000:

Operating revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $291,379 $307,242 $304,572 $311,435

Operating incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18,535 22,418 21,043 20,825

Net incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,318 12,915 12,291 12,499

Diluted earnings per share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.16 0.20 0.20 0.20
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

No reports on Form 8-K have been Ñled within the twenty-four months prior to December 31, 2001,
involving a change of accountants or disagreements on accounting and Ñnancial disclosure.

PART III

Certain information required by Part III is omitted from this report on Form 10-K in that the Company
will Ñle a deÑnitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A (Proxy Statement) not later than 120 days
after the end of the Ñscal year covered by this report on Form 10-K, and certain information included therein
is incorporated herein by reference. Only those sections of the Proxy Statement which speciÑcally address the
items set forth herein are incorporated by reference. Such incorporation does not include the Compensation
Committee Report or the Performance Graph included in the Proxy Statement.

Item 10. Directors and Executive OÇcers of the Registrant

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Proxy
Statement.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Proxy
Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneÑcial Owners and Management

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Proxy
Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Proxy
Statement.

PART IV

Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules.

(1) Financial Statements: See Part II, Item 8 hereof.

Page

Report of Independent Public Accountants ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16

Consolidated Statements of Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17

Consolidated Balance Sheets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18

Consolidated Statements of Cash FlowsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 21

(2) Financial Statement Schedules: The consolidated Ñnancial statement schedule set forth under
the following caption is included herein. The page reference is to the consecutively numbered pages of
this report on Form 10-K.

Page

Schedule II Ì Valuation and Qualifying Accounts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 34
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Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not applicable or are not required or
the information required to be set forth therein is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or
Notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits: The response to this portion of Item 14 is submitted as a separate section of this
report on Form 10-K (see Exhibit Index on page 34).

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

A report on Form 8-K, Ñled October 19, 2001, regarding a news release on October 16, 2001, announcing
the Company's operating revenues and earnings for the third quarter ended September 30, 2001.

32



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized,
on the 20th day of March, 2002.

WERNER ENTERPRISES, INC.

BY: /s/ JOHN J. STEELE

JOHN J. STEELE

Vice President, Treasurer and
Chief Financial OÇcer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Position Date

/s/ CLARENCE L. WERNER Chairman of the Board, Chief March 20, 2002
Executive OÇcer and DirectorClarence L. Werner

/s/ GARY L. WERNER Vice Chairman and Director March 20, 2002

Gary L. Werner

/s/ CURTIS G. WERNER Vice Chairman Ì Corporate March 20, 2002
Development and DirectorCurtis G. Werner

/s/ GREGORY L. WERNER President, Chief Operating March 20, 2002
OÇcer and DirectorGregory L. Werner

/s/ JOHN J. STEELE Vice President, Treasurer and March 20, 2002
Chief Financial OÇcerJohn J. Steele

/s/ JAMES L. JOHNSON Vice President, Controller and March 20, 2002
Corporate SecretaryJames L. Johnson

/s/ IRVING B. EPSTEIN Director March 20, 2002

Irving B. Epstein

/s/ MARTIN F. THOMPSON Director March 20, 2002

Martin F. Thompson

/s/ GERALD H. TIMMERMAN Director March 20, 2002

Gerald H. Timmerman

/s/ DONALD W. ROGERT Director March 20, 2002

Donald W. Rogert

/s/ JEFFREY G. DOLL Director March 20, 2002

JeÅrey G. Doll
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SCHEDULE II

WERNER ENTERPRISES, INC.

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at Charged to Write-OÅ Balance at
Beginning Costs and of Doubtful End of
of Period Expenses Accounts Period

(In thousands)

Year ended December 31, 2001:

Allowance for doubtful accounts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $3,994 $2,057 $1,085 $4,966

Year ended December 31, 2000:

Allowance for doubtful accounts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $3,236 $2,191 $1,433 $3,994

Year ended December 31, 1999:

Allowance for doubtful accounts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2,933 $ 606 $ 303 $3,236

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description Page Number or Incorporated by Reference to

3(i)(A) Revised and Amended Articles of Exhibit 3 to Registration Statement on
Incorporation Form S-1, Registration No. 33-5245

3(i)(B) Articles of Amendment to Articles of Exhibit 3(i) to the Company's report on
Incorporation Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31,

1994

3(i)(C) Articles of Amendment to Articles of Exhibit 3(i) to the Company's report on
Incorporation Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,

1998

3(ii) Revised and Amended By-Laws Exhibit 3(ii) to the Company's report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1994

10.1 Second Amended and Restated Stock Option Exhibit 10 to the Company's report on
Plan Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,

2000

10.2 Initial Subscription Agreement of Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's report on
Transplace.com, LLC, dated April 19, 2000 Form 8-K Ñled July 17, 2000

10.3 Operating Agreement of Transplace.com, Exhibit 2.2 to the Company's report on
LLC, dated April 19, 2000 Form 8-K Ñled July 17, 2000

11 Statement Re: Computation of Per Share Filed herewith
Earnings

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant Filed herewith

23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP Filed herewith
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Omaha, Nebraska 68102

Stock Transfer Agent and
Registrar
Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, N.A.
Shareowner Services
P.O. Box 64854  
St. Paul, Minnesota 55164-0854
Telephone: (800) 468-9716

Werner Enterprises
P.O. Box 45308  

Omaha, NE 68145-0308
www.werner.com

Executive Officers 

Clarence L. Werner, 64.  Chairman of
the Board and Chief Executive Officer 

Gary L. Werner, 44.  Vice Chairman

Curtis G. Werner, 37.  Vice Chairman -
Corporate Development

Gregory L. Werner, 42.  President and
Chief Operating Officer

Robert E. Synowicki, Jr., 43.  Executive
Vice President and Chief Information
Officer

Richard S. Reiser, 55.  Executive Vice
President and General Counsel

Daniel H. Cushman, 47.  Senior Vice
President - Marketing and Operations

Alan D. Adams, 64.  Vice President -
Terminal Operations

Duane D. Henn, 64.  Vice President -
Safety

Larry P. Williams, 56.  Vice President -
Value Added Services

John J. Steele, 44.  Vice President,
Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer

Dwayne O. Haug, 53.  Vice President -
Maintenance

H. Marty Nordlund, 40.  Vice President -
Specialized Services

R. Lee Easton, 43.  Vice President -
Management Information Systems

Guy M. Welton, 37.  Vice President -
Operations

James L. Johnson, 38.  Vice President,
Controller and Corporate Secretary

Derek J. Leathers, 32.  Vice President -
International

Board of Directors

Clarence L. Werner, 64.  Chairman of
the Board and Chief Executive Officer.
Founder of the Company.  Served on
Board since inception in 1986.  (3)

Gary L. Werner, 44.  Vice Chairman.
Served on Board since inception in
1986.

Curtis G. Werner, 37.  Vice Chairman -
Corporate Development.  Served on
Board since 1991.

Gregory L. Werner, 42.  President and
Chief Operating Officer.  Served on
Board since 1994. 

Irving B. Epstein, 74.  Attorney - Epstein
and Epstein.  Served on Board since
inception in 1986.  (1), (2), (3)

Martin F. Thompson, 81.  Retired
President of Cherry County Livestock
Auction Company.  Served on Board
since inception in 1986.  (1), (2), (3)

Gerald H. Timmerman, 62.  President -
Timmerman and Sons.  Served on
Board since 1988.  (1), (3)

Donald W. Rogert, 74.  Chairman -
Mallard Sand and Gravel Company.
Served on Board since 1994.  (1)

Jeffrey G. Doll, 47.  President and
Chief Executive Officer - Western Iowa
Wine, Inc.  Served on Board since
1997.  (1), (2), (3)

(1) Serves on audit committee
(2) Serves on option committee
(3) Serves on executive compensation 

committee
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